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  Preface


  American students might be forgiven if they know little about the Mexican-American War of 1846-48. It was a conflict not covered in high school history texts until recently. When it did finally appear in such texts as a subset of Westward Expansion, the result was to make it look like a fight for freedom on the part of patriotic Texans, migration to the territories, and the subsequent acquisition via the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo. To most students it appeared to be a simple real estate deal much like the Louisiana Purchase.


  In fact, the Mexican War was a preemptive invasion by US forces with the primary purpose of acquiring California, and a land route across the southwest to connect the Atlantic with the Pacific. It was unjustified and unconstitutional. It resulted in the largest land acquisition in modern history. More than half of Mexico was taken by the stroke of a pen and that country was relegated to Third World status; whereas the United States with its acquisition of 1,972,550km² (761,606 sq. mi.) of new territory, “from sea to shining sea,” rose to be a world power with deep ports on both the Atlantic and Pacific coasts. Out of the seized territories, the US carved out the present-day states of California, Utah, Arizona, and Nevada, along with parts of Kansas, New Mexico, Colorado, and Wyoming. In addition, the lower part of Texas from the Nueces River to the Rio Grande became officially part of the US.


  Despite the continuing impact on the people of Mexico and the problems created by the artificially-imposed borders as a result of that treaty, the acquisition still does not merit much space in the US history books, nor in the Advanced Placement curriculum. Few know that the Mexican people living in the territory seized by the Americans were promised citizenship by the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo. Few know that these same people were assured that their property rights would be respected. Neither one of these “legally binding” promises was fully kept.


  As a history teacher working at an American School in Mexico, I have tried to at least bring my class into a fuller awareness of the importance of this war, its impact both nationally and internationally, its troubling legacy, and the result of the silences that have been pervasive over the years regarding this conflict and the resulting territorial seizures by the United States. It has been an uphill battle.


  In 1997, I wrote a book entitled The Irish Soldiers of Mexico that explored the history of a group of Irish immigrants who fought on the side of Mexico during the conflict and their reasons for doing so. I also noted how this war was quite unpopular for a good many conscientious Americans at the time. Henry David Thoreau went to jail rather than pay taxes to support the war. He later wrote a fine essay “On Civil Disobedience” reflecting how it was the duty of every citizen to resist this kind of warmongering and preemptive strike. John Quincy Adams held that the war was started unconstitutionally. Ulysses S. Grant, an army captain in the invasion and subsequent occupation of Mexico, called it “the most unjust war ever waged against a weaker nation by a stronger.” Nevertheless, despite a long history of US military interventions in foreign countries, twelve years after my book on the Mexican War was written, President Obama addressed the cadets of West Point and told them:


  And finally, we must draw on the strength of our values--for the challenges that we face may have changed, but the things that we believe in must not. That’s why we must promote our values by living them at home…. And we must make it clear to every man, woman and child around the world who lives under the dark cloud of tyranny that America will speak out on behalf of their human rights, and tend to the light of freedom and justice and opportunity and respect for the dignity of all peoples. That is who we are. That is the source, the moral source, of America’s authority. For unlike the great powers of old, we have not sought world domination. Our union was founded in resistance to oppression. We do not seek to occupy other nations. We will not claim another nation’s resources or target other peoples because their faith or ethnicity is different from ours.1


  What a narrow view of world history these future military leaders were being given. What an un-nuanced view of America’s actions abroad. The President went on to say that he is a believer in “American exceptionalism.” From the text of the speech one is inclined to believe that this might be defined as always putting a positive spin on US relationships with other countries, including one of the two nations which share the continent of North America with us, despite our seizure of their territory, our confiscation of private property in violation of treaties, and our subsequent denial of citizenship.


  I also observed in my book how a Whig congressman, Abraham Lincoln, risked his political career by making several forceful speeches in Congress denouncing President Polk for his unilateral decision to declare war against a neighboring and peaceful republic, and how Lincoln showed that the president purposely distorted the facts in efforts to get the Congress to ratify his decision.


  In the ensuing years since the publication of that book, very little has been done to examine the war through a lens other than American exceptionalism. When the new Lincoln movie was released in 2012 to critical acclaim and the announcement that there would be “new historical information” and “insights into Lincoln’s political courage,” all of my students felt certain that the story of Lincoln and the Mexican War would finally be told. However, they were disappointed. The movie was mostly about slavery and the Emancipation Proclamation, subjects about which most students both in the United States and Mexico had been amply informed through dozens of readings, lectures, and films.


  So, when my students suggested that I write a book about Lincoln and the Mexican-American War, I decided to check and see what had been written. I was delighted to find and read two monographs that appeared since the publication of my book, and which were especially helpful for an extended discussion. The first was a compilation on Lincoln’s “spot resolutions” that he introduced in Congress, compiled by Louis Fisher of the Law Library of Congress and published by Penny Hill Press in 2009. It is a very short monograph, only twelve pages, but a valuable source for any serious student of the War since he lists and references the original documents. The second helpful essay on the same subject was a chapter from A Wicked War: Polk, Clay, Lincoln and the 1846 US Invasion of Mexico by Amy S. Greenberg. The chapter was entitled “Lincoln and the War,” and it is also highly recommended because Greenberg sets out how Lincoln was later vilified in the press for his stand against Polk’s declaration of war, which he considered unconstitutional and unprovoked by Mexico. I will be referring to both of these in this text and am grateful to both authors for their contribution to this study.


  I thought this book might end at this point in Lincoln’s career until, in the course of my perusal through Lincoln’s papers, I discovered a note he had written for the Mexican president, Benito Juárez, in support of his efforts to form a republican government. It would be a valuable asset during the French Occupation of 1861-1867, a time that coincided with our own Civil War. It would help the Mexican president raise money, arms and men to overthrow Maximilian. In the process of following up on this item, I found out how much Lincoln actually did to support the liberal cause in Mexico and help rid the country of the French imperialists. I also uncovered the little-known role that his generals, Grant and Sheridan, played in that liberation.


  Einstein famously wrote that: “If we knew what we were doing, we wouldn’t call it research.” So it might come as no surprise to the reader that another of the research pathways led to the black troops in the Civil War after the Emancipation Proclamation (another group not represented in the Lincoln movie), and how these brave men fought for their own freedom. And, what is even more remarkable, how at the end of the Civil War, many went south to fight for Mexico. This last episode is unknown to most Americans and Mexicans alike. I am grateful to William A. Dobak, author of Freedom by the Sword, The US Colored Troops, 1863-1867, and John David Smith, author of Lincoln and the US Colored Troops, for providing insights into the formation and accomplishments of this group of courageous soldiers.


  My thanks to the Presidency Project begun in 1999 to organize all the papers, documents and speeches of the presidents from 1789 to the present. It is an on-line searchable site where one can find many primary resources. For the convenience of the reader, I have included an appendix to this work that provides the most relevant documents of Lincoln’s concerns with Mexico, the consistency of his moral stance, and letters between him and his confidants who shared his views. I am also grateful to the John Hay Library at Brown University that provided me with additional letters and documents illustrating this historical period. On the Mexican side I am extremely grateful to the Banco de México, which has made the papers of Matías Romero (special envoy and later Mexican ambassador to the United States from 1861-67), available to scholars, and also to the Biblioteca Nacional de Antropología e Historia in Mexico City, which filled in some of the gaps in my research.


  Finally, I wish to thank the American School Foundation of Guadalajara and the students of my Advanced Placement US History (APUSH) class of 2014. This was the largest group of Latin American students enrolled in an APUSH course in the history of the College Board’s AP program.2 They were a challenging cadre of students who researched many primary source documents independently and always had probing questions about the role of the United States, especially in Latin American affairs. We occasionally got away from the course description and syllabus, but it made for a dynamic interaction and a fascinating class. I hope I have answered some of their questions here and have done them the honor of clarifying the role of the United States in Mexico during two of the most controversial and complex periods in American history, and how decisions made then continue to permeate the daily lives of citizens and residents of both countries.


  Michael Hogan


  Guadalajara, Jalisco, México


  Map of Mexico, 1821. Its territory extended from Louisiana to the Pacific in the east and west, and from Guatemala to Oregon Territory in the south and north.
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  Chapter One: Mexico Before the Conflict


  In order to get a clear picture of Mexico prior to the US invasion, it is important to see the country as it was in the year following its independence from Spain in 1821. The northern Mexican state of Coahuila y Tejas (wherein is located today’s state of Texas) was sparsely populated but still a viable national entity. While there was little in the way of municipal structures, there were several small settlements or pueblos , a dozen large ranchos, some missions founded by the Franciscans, and a scattering of military outposts. Wichita, Apache, Kiowa, and Comanche also roamed the area pretty much at will, attacking travelers and raiding the missions.


  In 1822, Stephen F. Austin led several American families into the region to make their home. Two years before, his father had persuaded the Spanish government to grant him a huge tract of land for American settlers. After his father died, Austin went ahead with the plan. By that time, Mexico had gained its independence, so Austin had to make arrangements with the new government. Mexico agreed to honor the Spanish land grant under the conditions that the colonists would belong to the Catholic faith, that they would become Mexican citizens, and that they would obey Mexican laws.3


  At first, the government was pleased with the colonization of this area. There were several reasons for this. The original settlers, sometimes known as the Three Hundred, were grateful to Mexico for the opportunity to settle there and were willing to work hard to become good citizens. In addition, the local inhabitants saw that they were good neighbors and were integrating themselves into Mexican society, thus helping to secure a territory that was distant from and unprofitable to the capital. So the government opened up more of the region to settlement under the same conditions. As these new arrivals came, buying as much as 4,000 acres for $40, considerably less than the cost of land in the States, dissension began. Unlike Austin’s original First Families, many of the new arrivals were malcontents, restless adventurers, and others uncomfortable with the restrictions of American society. Several brought their slaves with them.


  Few of the new breed of settlers bothered to learn Spanish; most of those who made the formal declaration of Faith were not Catholics and moreover often had contempt for that religion, which they considered a superstitious cult. The social differences between these rough Anglo settlers and the local Mexicans were considerable. Most of the Anglos were single men, unattached to any community or tradition. The Mexicans had lived in the region for decades prior to independence from Spain in 1821. They had raised families, developed the land, built homes, and formed local governments. Dissension was beginning to grow.


  Some of the settlers were small farmers who bought land in Texas because their own farms had become overworked and unprofitable. This was especially true of cotton plantation owners who moved into the region with their families and their slaves. They considered the local inhabitants to be racially inferior to the Anglo-Saxon. In addition, the majority of the new settlers were Protestants who held the Catholic religion to be a “misdirected and misbegotten religion,”4 and “idolatrous Popery.” The American Bible Society urged the unity of Protestant sects to combat Rome’s influence in the Americas. The stage was set for both religious and racial conflict.


  In 1827, there were 12,000 Anglos living in Texas. By 1835, there were 30,000 colonists, mostly impervious to the local traditions and unwilling to assimilate. Many of them were also contemptuous of the people whom they considered half-breeds, “more degraded even than our Blacks.”5 In addition, they grew increasingly unwilling to abide by many of the Mexican laws as well, including those concerned with ownership (slavery was outlawed in Mexico in 1829), possession of unregistered firearms, and payment of federal and state taxes. Because of this, the Mexican government sought to put a stop to further settlement of this area by foreigners.


  Santa Anna and the Texas Rebellion


  Mexico was a federalist government at this time, with state governments usually capable of settling differences between settlers and longtime inhabitants. However, President Antonio López de Santa Anna was elected in 1833 as a reaction of the military and the Church against the previous liberal government that had confiscated Church property, limited the power of the Mexican Army, and established local militias. Santa Anna established the Plan of Cuernavaca in 1834 that mandated a change in the Constitution to replace the federal form of government with one that was fully centralized in Mexico City with the states organized into military districts. He also restored confiscated properties to the Church, eliminated the local militias, and restored the army to its previous standing.


  The centralist cast of the new Mexican administration was just the catalyst that the Anglo settlers had been waiting for. Knowing that the state governments were no longer effective and that the central government would take much longer to respond to any crisis, they saw an opportunity. Encouraged by expansionists in the US, and using the election of Santa Anna as the final straw, they made plans for a revolt.


  Who was this Santa Anna and how did his rise to power bring the Texas pot to a boil? There is no question that, in the history of the Americas, Santa Anna is one of the most colorful characters. He was born in 1794 in Veracruz. He was a criollo , that is, a native of the Americas whose parents were pure or “white” Christian Spaniards, with no mixture of Moor or Indian blood. He joined the Spanish Army at age sixteen and saw combat a year later. For ten years, he was a cavalry officer who supported the cause of the King in New Spain, fought against insurgents and Indians, was injured by arrows in one major Indian uprising, and had been commended for valor in battle. He rose fairly quickly through the officer ranks from second lieutenant in 1812 to captain in 1816. Here he witnessed the Spanish Army’s “no quarter” policy for rebels. All prisoners were summarily executed. Nonetheless, in 1821, Santa Anna left the Spanish Army and joined the Mexican rebels with the rank of general in their fight for independence. His personal risk was extreme and his courage was notable. When the Mexican Republic devolved to a repressive imperial phase, he turned against the forces of Emperor Iturbide and helped to restore a representative government. In 1829, when Spain attempted to re-conquer Mexico (similar to England’s invasion of the US in 1812), Santa Anna again took to the field and crushed the Spanish forces at Tampico. He was named “Savior of His Country” and a medal was struck in his honor by the Mexican Congress.6


  Wisely, Santa Anna did not run for office during this turbulent time. Four of the original leaders of the War of Independence died violently. When he did finally run for president in 1833, the charismatic general received an overwhelming majority. It was the first of many political victories. Day-to-day administration was not his strength, however. Moreover, since he was elected as a liberal, he would be expected to make reforms that would weaken his popularity with the Church and his friends in the military. He retreated to his estate in Jalapa, Veracruz, and left the daily administration of the government to his vice-president, Gómez Farías. When Farías secularized the Church, confiscated its funds, and then reduced the power of the army, the conservatives rushed to Santa Anna’s estate to persuade him to return to power. He did so with a vigor which troubled the Texans who had grown used to the benevolent disregard of the federal government and their untaxed, unfettered way of life.


  It should be noted that among the laws they found most onerous was one stating that anyone living in Texas with an unregistered gun would be considered a pirate and subject to immediate execution. The unlimited right to bear arms was one the Texans took seriously even in those days, and they vowed to shoot any Mexican trying to enforce the law. Led by Sam Houston, who left a career in politics in Tennessee to come to Texas in 1829, the settlers declared their independence on March 2, 1836. They chose David Burnett as the first president of their new nation.7


  Several other states also openly rebelled against the new government. In addition to Texas (which would become the Republic of Texas), the Yucatán, Tamaulipas, and Zacatecas also revolted. Some of these states formed their own brief governments as well: the Republic of the Rio Grande and the Republic of Yucatán. The Zacatecan militia, the largest of the northern Mexican states, was well armed with .753 caliber British ‘Brown Bess’ muskets and Baker .61 rifles, and posed the most immediate threat. But, after two hours of combat on May 12,1835, Santa Anna defeated the Zacatecan militia and took almost 3,000 prisoners. After that signal victory, he planned to move on to Coahuila y Tejasto quell the revolt there, which was being supported by settlers from the United States (aka Texians ). In his northern march, however, Santa Anna faced many obstacles including scarcity of supplies, inadequate manpower, and untrained Indian troops. In addition, the troops were not used to or dressed for the colder weather of the north, water sources were polluted, and Apache attacks cut down stragglers. Santa Anna, however, was confident that a show of force would intimidate the Texas troops. Not only had he successfully defeated a larger, well-equipped Zacatecan force but now with his announcement that “all foreigners who might be caught under arms on Mexican soil would be treated as pirates and shot,” he expected the rebels would surrender. He also reinforced his edict by having his buglers sound el degüello to signal that the Texas rebels would receive no quarter if they did not.


  At the Battle of the Alamo on March 6, 1836, his troops handily defeated the defenders led by William Barrett Travis after they barricaded themselves in the Alamo, a Franciscan mission on the outskirts of San Antonio de Bexar. They held out for thirteen days but, at the end of the battle, the Texans were dead. However, the lengthy siege of the Alamo gave ships manned by Texas rebels time to plunder Mexican ports along the coast, and provided other Texas land forces time to gain both weapons and ammunition from the United States.


  But one more defeat would follow before the Texan forces could rally. On March 26, 1836, the Mexicans surrounded a large force of Texas rebels at Goliad. Lt. Col.Nicolás de la Portilla accepted their surrender and intended to hold them as prisoners. However, Santa Anna ordered them all summarily executed, citing the national law of piracy and the illegal bearing of arms as a justification. These excesses of Santa Anna were to give the Texas rebels a new solidarity and a desperation of purpose.


  Aroused by Santa Anna’s brutality, and using “Remember the Alamo, remember Goliad” as a battle cry, on April 21, 1836, the Texas rebels, reinforced by supplies and men from all over the United States, retaliated at the Battle of San Jacinto. The Mexican Army, weakened by lack of supplies and wearied by forced marches, was overwhelmed and almost the entire force was killed or captured at the Battle of San Jacinto. Santa Anna himself was taken and held captive.


  While a prisoner, Santa Anna was “persuaded” by the Texans to sign two “treaties.” In the first, he stipulated that he would cease all hostilities and would take his remaining troops across the Rio Grande. In the second, he stipulated that in exchange for his release and transportation to Veracruz, he would endeavor to persuade the Mexican government to formally recognize Texas independence. The Mexican congress responded by enacting a law stipulating that any agreement made by a Mexican president while being held prisoner was null and void. It also refused to recognize Texas as an independent nation. Santa Anna returned to Mexico in disgrace and retired to his hacienda in Jalapa, Veracruz.8 Within two years, however, he would once again have an opportunity to seize the stage and become a military hero.




  Chapter Two: Texas Statehood and General Taylor’s Army


  In September 1836, Texas voted overwhelmingly in favor of annexation and had support from the pro-slavery faction in Congress. Mexico did not recognize the new republic, however, and many inhabitants of Texas did not feel safe. They felt it was just a matter of time before efforts were made to regain the lost territory. But when the Texas minister in Washington, DC, proposed annexation to the Martin Van Buren administration in August 1837, he was told that the proposition could not be entertained. While the United States recognized Texas independence in 1837, many Americans objected to Texas statehood on the grounds that Texas would become a slave state with its entrance into the Union and the slave states would then outnumber the free states.


  The debate raged on. Many southern politicians saw Texas statehood simply as a way to spread the institution of slavery, since the federal law provided no express restrictions on slavery in newly-acquired territories. In fact, some hoped that Texas, because of its size, might yield two or three slave states each with their own senators and representatives in Congress. Northerners, fearing that the admission of Texas would give the South control of Congress, opposed its annexation. Still others, who opposed slavery on principle, argued the moral issue of admitting to the Union a territory already populated by slaveholders. Others were opposed to annexation because they felt that the Texans had deliberately provoked the Mexicans by refusing to obey Mexican laws. This group, called the Anti-Texass Legion, persisted in purposely misspelling the name of the territory.9


  The controversy over the issue of slavery, and the balance of power that would be subverted by admission of Texas as a slave state, grew so heated that John Quincy Adams, the former president, felt that the Union itself might not survive the controversy. In 1837, the outgoing president, Andrew Jackson, favored Texas statehood but thought it untimely coming right on the heels of the Texans’ military victory. He felt that it would appear to the rest of the world as if the US had simply infiltrated Mexican territory with armed bands with the sole intent of seizing the territory for the US. This, indeed, was the opinion of the Mexican government.


  William Henry Harrison was elected in 1840, and he was a moderate on the issue as well. His vice-president, however, a compromise candidate chosen to get the Southern vote, was committed to Texas annexation. The Whig party reasoned that vice-presidents have no power and so John Tyler’s opinion on the question would have no effect. But as fate would have it, Harrison died after less than a month in office and Tyler acquired the presidency. He would try to push annexation through Congress with little success until just prior to the inauguration of his successor. So, for nearly ten years, Texas remained an independent nation, viz., “The Lone Star Republic.”


  Santa Anna Returns


  Meanwhile, Mexico, torn with internal conflicts and power struggles, was unable to muster sufficient manpower or resources to retake its captured territory in the north. Santa Anna was driven into exile for making concessions to the Texans in 1837. However, in 1838, Mexico became involved in a war with France. During the chaos following the independence of Mexico, the property of foreign nationals was often damaged or confiscated. As a result, claims were filed by these nations. France’s claim, based in part upon pastries consumed without compensation by hungry Mexican soldiers who had raided a French bakery in Mexico City, was one of these nations. Called the “Pastry War” by Mexico City journalists, it began when France had launched an invasion to secure reparations for her ten-year-old claim.


  Santa Anna offered his services to defend Mexico and was invited to return home. He personally led an army that repulsed the French invasion and forced the French to settle their claims for a reduced sum and withdraw their troops. His horse was shot from under him while he was leading his men, and he was severely wounded in the knee. A few days later his leg was amputated. The victorious and wounded general was once again seen as a hero by the Mexican people.


  Santa Anna, capitalizing on his popularity as a victorious general, had his leg buried with military honors and had a sumptuous new theater built in Mexico City, which he named after himself. Then followed a political vacuum, during which time Santa Anna had retreated to his villa to recover from his wounds. A revolt in 1841 brought him “reluctantly” back to power for three years, after which he was ousted in a military coup by a rival general.10 He then was exiled to 1845 in Cuba for ten years.


  Meanwhile, there were Indian uprisings in the Yucatán, and near bankruptcy in the capital. Mexico could still not afford to pay its foreign debts, including an embarrassing one to the United States for which the payments were overdue. Rival generals fought for control of the country, as taxes and domestic instability increased.


  Polk Plans Aggressive Action


  In 1844, while Mexico was busy dealing with its internal problems, James K. Polk was elected president of the United States on a platform that advocated Texas statehood. Shortly after the election, but prior to Polk’s actual inauguration, Tyler, the lame duck president, had an annexation measure introduced to Congress. He had failed previously to get a two-thirds vote required for a treaty, but a joint resolution was finally approved in the closing hours of his administration. It was not ratified until July, however, and Texas did not formally become a state of the Union until December 1845.


  Mexico had never recognized the independence of Texas. In addition, Mexico had previously warned the US that annexation would be an act of war. The US ignored these warnings. Additionally, the US claimed that the southern boundary of their new state was the Rio Grande del Norte (Rio Bravo) and not the southwest boundary marked on all existing maps at the Rio Nueces, considerably to the north.


  The new administration was also responding to business interests who wanted the US to acquire Santa Fe, a valuable trading post, in the area now known as New Mexico. Additionally, California seemed attractive to expansionists in Congress. In late 1845, Polk sent his representative John Slidell to Mexico City to make an offer to buy both California and New Mexico. He was willing to forgive the Mexican debts, pay $5 million for New Mexico, and up to $25 million for California. The Mexican press got wind of it, and broadsides threatened revolution if the Mexican president even considered negotiation. The Mexican president, José Joaquín Herrera, although a moderate on the issue, felt that his hands were tied. Any attempt to negotiate might lead to his own fall from power. Accordingly, he refused to receive Slidell. Annoyed, Polk decided to become more aggressive. He wrote in his journal that he felt the status quo was impossible and he needed to take action.11


  In mid-June 1845, a month before Texas had ratified annexation by the US and six months before Texas became a state, President Polk had the Secretary of War, William Marcy, order General Zachary Taylor to take a position south of the Nueces River with a force of approximately 4,000 men. By the end of July, there was a major US encampment in the Mexican village of Corpus Christi.


  Polk’s intention was clear. This was a show of force intended to give the Mexicans a sense of reality in the settlement of various matters he intended to take up, among them the purchase of California.12


  In January 1846, Polk, in an effort to increase the pressure on the Mexicans to agree to a settlement, ordered Taylor to take a position on the Rio Grande, well beyond the official boundary of Mexico prior to the Santa Anna debacle. By March, Taylor had done so and constructed a fort on a bluff on the north bank of the river just opposite the Mexican town of Matamoros. Originally called Fort Texas, it was later to be re-named Fort Brown because of the death of its commander Major Jacob Brown in battle, and is the present site of Brownsville. Since the American Army had already crossed the Nueces River, Taylor’s forces had actually been in Mexican (or at least disputed) territory, since June of the previous year. Now, building a fort on the banks of the Rio Grande and moving up artillery on the bluffs above a large Mexican settlement, the actions of the Americans seemed to the Mexicans to be calculated aggression.


  Fig. 1. General Zachary Taylor, circa 1845. Daguerrotype, cropped. Library of Congress.
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  Fig. 2. General Antonio López De Santa Anna. Official Portrait. Ca. 1830.
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  Chapter Three: The Thornton Affair and Mr. Polk’s War


  Zachary Taylor was an unlikely general. Small in stature, overweight, with a grandfatherly face, he rarely wore the standard military uniform. He preferred an old straw hat, backwoods clothes, and a dirty bandanna around his neck. He often sat in front of his quarters to take the air. In spite of his unsoldierly appearance, however, Taylor was highly respected by his men and had combat experience in the War of 1812 and the Seminole War. After the latter conflict, he retired with the rank of colonel.


  Called affectionately “Old Zack” and “Rough and Ready” by his soldiers, General Taylor was old for field command, almost sixty-one, and had been looking forward to settling down permanently to the life of a gentleman farmer. He had bought plantations in Louisiana and in Mississippi and had made plans for their increased production. He was a Whig and a slave owner; President Polk was a Democrat and an expansionist. Political differences were put aside, however, because of the high marks as a commander that Andrew Jackson gave Taylor in his conversations with Polk.


  Taylor’s official rank was that of Colonel of the 6th Infantry. His title of Brigadier General was a “brevet” title, that is, an honorary rank usually given for valor and not carrying with it the pay scale or emoluments for the higher grade. Notwithstanding the honorary nature of his rank, Taylor would become effectively the Commander-in-Chief of the US Army in Northern Mexico. Despite his casual style, reviewing his troops side-saddle on “Old Whitey,” his leg casually cocked over the pommel, he would command the respect not only of his soldiers but of the entire United States.


  On July 25, 1845, Taylor was ordered to leave New Orleans with eight companies of the Third regiment and proceed to Corpus Christi at the mouth of the Nueces River. This was the border between Texas and Mexico on all the current maps. There they were joined by additional infantry as well as artillery troops and volunteers. It was thought by Polk that such a movement would convince the Mexicans of the seriousness of his negotiations for the purchase of California and the land route in the southwest. The Mexican government, however, remained adamant in its refusal to sell.


  On January 13, 1846, Polk, in an effort to increase the pressure on the Mexicans to agree to a settlement, instructed Secretary of War William L. Marcy to give the critical order: “Advance and occupy, with the troops under your command, positions on or near the east bank of the Rio del Norte (Rio Grande) as soon as can be conveniently done.”13 When American troops crossed the Nueces, Mexico was certain to consider her territory invaded, and, in the language of Secretary Marcy, as “the commencement of hostilities.” General Taylor privately agreed, and in his letters noted that this action was “unnecessary and provocative.” Nevertheless, he followed his orders.


  The construction of fortifications on the Rio Grande was further evidence of US aggression, not only to the Mexicans but also to several members of Congress in the United States. One US Whig senator observed that ordering Taylor to cross the River Nueces with his army and advancing to the banks of the Rio Grande was “as much an act of aggression on our part as is a man’s pointing a pistol at another’s breast.”14


  On April 25, 1846, a scout suggested that a Mexican cavalry troop may have crossed the Rio Grande upstream of Taylor’s army. Capt. Seth Thornton was ordered by Taylor to take a patrol and see if his information was correct.


  The Thornton Affair


  According to the after-battle reports of Captain William J. Hardee, Captain Seth B. Thornton and fifty-two dragoons under his command were sent by Gen. Taylor to reconnoiter the Mexican positions to see if they had crossed the Rio Grande on April 26th. About 23 miles from camp, their guide refused to go farther and said that there were signs of Mexican cavalry. But Thornton persisted. They came to a large fenced property called Rancho Carricitos, which bordered the river. Once there, they opened the gate and entered the property in force through a narrow roadway. It was casually and contemptuously done without any guard or sentinel placed outside the gate in case they should be surprised. Captain Thornton was “convinced that the Mexicans would not fight” even if they later arrived at the ranch.15


  An old man was found on the property, and while Thornton was talking with him the Mexican cavalry arrived. Thornton gave the signal to charge. However, his men who had been scattered about exploring the property, were in “a perfect state of disorder” and were soon overwhelmed, with several killed or wounded. Capt. Hardee, the author of the report writes as follows:


  I rode up to Captain Thornton and told him that our only hope for safety was tearing down the fence: he gave the order, but could not stop his horse, nor would the men stop. Foreseeing that the direction Captain Thornton was pursuing would lead to the certain destruction of himself and men, without the possibility of resistance, I turned to the right and had the men follow me. I made for the river, intending to either swim it or place myself in a position of defense. I found the bank too bogging to accomplish the former…and almost everyone had lost a sabre, a pistol or carbine….16


  Seeing that they were outnumbered, and believing that Capt. Thornton was among the fallen, Hardee surrendered his men with the understanding from the Mexican commander that they would be “treated with all the consideration to which such unfortunates are entitled by the rules of civilized warfare.”


  He was not mistaken in his expectation. As befitting the rules of war with a legitimate army, the Mexican general treated the American invaders honorably even though they were invaders. Unlike the Texans, they were a legitimate army—not a rebel horde—and the officers were given traditional Mexican hospitality and respect. In the words of Captain W. J. Hardee:


  I take pleasure in stating that since our surrender I and my brave companions in misfortune have been treated with uniform kindness and attention. It may soften the rigor of war for you to be informed of this fact. Lieutenant Kane and myself are living with General Ampudia, we lodge in his hotel, eat at his table, and his frank, agreeable manner and generous hospitality, almost make us forget our captivity. General Arista received us in the most gracious manner, said that his nation had been regarded as barbarous, and that he wished to prove to us the contrary. Told Lieutenant Kane and myself that we should receive half pay, and our men should receive ample rations, and in lieu of it for today 25 cents apiece. On declining the boon of the money, on the part of Lieutenant Kane and myself, I asked that we might be permitted to send to camp for money and he said that he could not permit it, that he intended to supply all our wants himself. These promises have already been fulfilled in part.17


  In the battle, eleven Americans were killed and five wounded. The wounded were sent back to the American lines by Lieutenant Torrejon who stated he did not have “the medical facilities to care for them.”18 All the officers and men were later released as part of a prisoner exchange including Capt. Thornton who did not fall in the battle, but went on to participate in the September 1847 takeover of Mexico City.


  Mr. Polk’s War


  Meanwhile, although Polk had already decided to declare war and had drafted his declaration, he was not sure how Congress would respond. He called his cabinet together to consult with them on the afternoon of May 8th, and at the end of the meeting resolved to submit his war message on Tuesday, May 11th. However, that evening he received Taylor’s dispatch of April 26th stating that hostilities had commenced. That gave Polk the opportunity for which he had been waiting. He revised his original draft to include news of the Thornton incident, which he interpreted as a casus belli. He sent his message to Congress on Monday, a day early, declaring that, since the Mexicans had “shed American blood on American soil,” a state of war existed between the US and Mexico.


  In the original draft, which he included in his address to Congress, he stated the real reason for calling up the troops. Mexico refused to sell California, refused even to negotiate with the American envoy despite his persistence. To Polk, this behavior of a weaker nation was intolerable, as can be seen, in the first paragraph of his war message to Congress.


  The Government of Mexico, though solemnly pledged by official acts in October last to receive and accredit an American envoy, violated their plighted faith and refused the offer of a peaceful adjustment of our difficulties. Not only was the offer rejected, but the indignity of its rejection was enhanced by the manifest breach of faith in refusing to admit the envoy who came because they had bound themselves to receive him. Nor can it be said that the offer was fruitless from want of opportunity of discussing it; our envoy was present on their own soil. Nor can it be ascribed to a want of sufficient powers; our envoy had full powers to adjust every question of difference. Nor was there room for complaint that our propositions for settlement were unreasonable; permission was not even given our envoy to make any proposition whatever. Nor can it be objected that we, on our part, would not listen to any reasonable terms of their suggestion; the Mexican Government refused all negotiation, and have made no proposition of any kind.19


  In the next paragraph, he justified sending General Taylor and his army to the Rio Nueces on the pretext that he wished to prevent an invasion by Mexico!


  In my message at the commencement of the present session I informed you that upon the earnest appeal both of the Congress and convention of Texas I had ordered an efficient military force to take a position “between the Nueces and Del Norte.” This had become necessary to meet a threatened invasion of Texas by the Mexican forces, for which extensive military preparations had been made. The invasion was threatened solely because Texas had determined, in accordance with a solemn resolution of the Congress of the United States, to annex herself to our Union, and under these circumstances it was plainly our duty to extend our protection over her citizens and soil.20


  In the third paragraph, he confirmed what the original motivation was: the failure to receive the envoy and conclude the sale of Mexican land to the United States. It was then and only then that he ordered Secretary Marcy to relay the order to Taylor to send the troops down to the Rio Grande.


  This force was concentrated at Corpus Christi, and remained there until after I had received such information from Mexico as rendered it probable, if not certain, that the Mexican Government would refuse to receive our envoy….21


  Finally, he added the last argument, the disastrous American raid on the Mexican rancho. The Thornton Affair gave Polk what was in his opinion the most convincing reason for the declaration of war. Polk boldly contended that the Mexicans themselves caused the war by defending themselves against Thornton’s dragoons who had not only crossed the border illegally and entered Mexican territory, but had also trespassed on private property within Mexico and attacked Mexican cavalry who were there to protect that property.


  The cup of forbearance had been exhausted even before the recent information from the frontier of the Del Norte. But now, after reiterated menaces, Mexico has passed the boundary of the United States, has invaded our territory and shed American blood upon the American soil. [Emphasis supplied] She has proclaimed that hostilities have commenced, and that the two nations are now at war.


  As war exists, [Emphasis supplied] and, notwithstanding all our efforts to avoid it, exists by the act of Mexico herself, we are called upon by every consideration of duty and patriotism to vindicate with decision the honor, the rights, and the interests of our country.22


  There are two significant problems with the two paragraphs above where the emphasis is supplied. The first is that there was no existing map that showed the frontier to be the Rio del Norte(Rio Grande), nor was such a frontier recognized by any country, or established by treaty ratified by any country. So, Polk’s argument that Mexico passed the boundary of the United States was false, as was his assertion that American blood was shed on American soil.


  The second problem is Polk’s assertion that “war exists” and that it “exists by the act of Mexico herself.” What existed at the time of this assertion were hostilities, certainly, but they could have been resolved by thoughtful negotiation. War was by no means inevitable and obviously did not “exist” at the time of the declaration. It was up to Congress to declare war after every reasonable attempt to resolve differences had been exhausted. Polk’s assumption of the war powers from Congress, as well as his ordering the preemptive invasion of Mexican territory a month earlier and building fortifications, were both over-reaching acts and abuses of the executive power.


  But, of course, Polk was not naïve. He knew this all along. His intent, formed prior to even taking office, was to extend American territory across the southwest and, if he could not purchase the southwest land route and California, to wrest these territories from Mexico. In fact, soon after Texas statehood was accomplished, he ordered Taylor to begin recruiting troops. As Polk himself noted:


  Anticipating the possibility of a crisis like that which has arrived, instructions were given in August last, “as a precautionary measure” against invasion or threatened invasion, authorizing General Taylor, if the emergency required it, to accept volunteers, not from Texas only, but from the States of Louisiana, Alabama, Mississippi, Tennessee, and Kentucky, and corresponding letters were addressed to the respective governors of those States. These instructions were repeated, and in January last, soon after the incorporation of “Texas into our Union of States,” General Taylor was further “authorized by the President to make a requisition upon the executive of that State for such of its militia force as may be needed to repel invasion or to secure the country against apprehended invasion.” On the 2d day of March he was again reminded, “in the event of the approach of any considerable Mexican force, promptly and efficiently to use the authority with which he was clothed to call to him such auxiliary force as he might need.” War actually existing and our territory having been invaded, General Taylor, pursuant to authority vested in him by my direction, has called on the governor of Texas for four regiments of State troops, two to be mounted and two to serve on foot, and on the governor of Louisiana for four regiments of infantry to be sent to him as soon as practicable.23


  Everything was in place for an offensive war. What remained now was to overcome the resistance which he would likely face from the Whigs, the anti-slavery block, and the New England peace advocates. The best way to do that was to have the House leader limit debate on the war resolution and move it on a fast track. Congress approved the declaration of war on May 13, with southern Democrats in strong support. Sixty-seven Whigs voted against the war on a key slavery amendment, but on the final passage only 14 Whigs in the House voted no, including Rep. John Quincy Adams. Congress declared war on Mexico on May 13, 1846, after only having a few hours to debate. Later, Polk would gleefully write: “We had not gone to war for conquest. But it was clear that in making peace we would, if possible, get California and other parts of Mexico.”24 The Senate voted 40-2 to support Polk’s war.


  Ohio Senator Tom Corwin, one of those voting against the war bill, accused Polk of involving the United States in a war of aggression. Senator John C. Calhoun of South Carolina abstained from voting, correctly foreseeing that the war would aggravate sectional strife. Other citizens shared their legislators’ concern, particularly those in the Northeast who saw the war as a ploy to extend slavery. The most celebrated was Henry David Thoreau, who refused to pay his Massachusetts poll tax because he believed the war an immoral advancement of slavery.


  Many Americans opposed what they called “Mister Polk's War.” Whig Party members and Abolitionists in the North believed that slave-owners and Southerners in Polk's administration had planned the war. They believed the South wanted to conquer Mexican territory for the purpose of spreading and strengthening slavery. Polk claimed to be sympathetic with the concerns of those who wished to limit the growth of slavery, but said that he considered those who did not support the war to be giving aid to the enemy and, essentially, no better than traitors. He would include among this latter contingent, not only the loyal Whig opposition, but also a young Illinois congressman by the name of Abraham Lincoln.


  Fig. 3. Earliest known representation of Abraham Lincoln. Taken shortly after his election to Congress. Daguerreotype by Nicolas H. Shepherd. Springfield, Illinois 1846. Courtesy of Library of Congress, Daguerreotype Division. 20th century quality image made from a copy of a 19th century negative.
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  Chapter Four: The Loyal Opposition Argues Against War with Mexico


  Opposition to the War was mixed. Abolitionists and those who believed that this conflict would create an opening for more slave states were among the most outspoken. The leaders of the Whig party who saw Polk’s imperialist tendencies as contrary to America’s founding principles were also quick in their response to Polk’s war declaration. Peace societies and movements centered mainly in New England were vociferous in their opposition. For the majority of the country, however, the war was seen as a chance to expand into territory that was sparsely populated or settled mostly by Indio or Mestizo people whom they considered inferior. Manifest Destiny was the catchword of the day, from a newspaper editorial of John L. Sullivan. “More, more more!.. till our national destiny is fulfilled…and the whole boundless continent is ours.”25 It captured the prevalent belief that the States had the divine right to expand from “sea to shining sea.”
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